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ABOUT THE AUTHOR


Michael Billington was born in Urmston Cottage Hospital (the single-storey white building) at 7.10 a.m. on Wednesday, 1 April 1953, and brought up in Flixton and Davyhulme. He was baptised on 10 May 1953 at English Martyrs Roman Catholic church on Roseneath Road, where his parents had been married two years earlier on 31 March 1951.


After studying for a LLB degree at Liverpool in the early 1970s he gained an Open University degree and moved into primary school teaching in the mid 1990s.


Michael’s first interest in the local history of his home town came about when he was studying art A-level between 1970 and 1972 at De la Salle College in Weaste, Salford. In addition to a drawing and painting assignment there was a requirement to submit an architecture thesis. Interviews with the local council, planners and architects resulted in a thirty-six-page submission on the then recent redevelopment in 1970 that included the new precinct (which was re-redeveloped in 2012) housing, shops, council offices, the Conservative club, a public house, the new library and car parking facilities. A second phase was part of the development where the old Victoria pub used to be situated.


Michael is a humanist and, in addition to his interest in local history, he is an artist, musician, writer, bee-keeper and ex-broadcaster as a former radio presenter and producer with BBC Radio Manchester, KFM and Red Rose Radio. A large collection of renaissance woodwind instruments occupies much of his leisure time and he is known for his extensive collection of bagpipes from around Europe.


Now a semi-retired primary school teacher, Michael lives in Chorlton-cum-Hardy; he has lived there since the mid 1970s but he has never forgotten that he is, first and foremost, still an Urmstonian.


Michael is a member of the Urmston and District Local History Society.




FOREWORD


Michael Billington’s history of Urmston, Flixton and Davyhulme gives an insight into the everyday life of a small community from the time of the Norman Conquest to the present day. The area has changed considerably over the last 200 years as a result of its close contact with Manchester, a city that was at one time the most important industrial centre in the world. The Industrial Revolution, the coming of the railways and the Manchester Ship Canal accelerated the changes to the lives of ordinary people living in this area. These changes are documented through the various chapters in the book dealing, among other things, with employment, housing, religion, entertainment, transport and planning development.


The four case studies illustrate how the community evolved, from mainly agricultural production and handloom weaving to a dormitory town for incoming professional, managerial and skilled workers. I would like to thank Michael Billington for including the case study of Simpson Ready Foods, which is in many ways typical of this evolution. The company was started by my grandfather, who was the son of a handloom weaver from Droylesden; he moved to Urmston to set up a food manufacturing business in 1910. Over the past 100 years the company has employed many local and incoming workers. These include people similar to George Baldwin of Case Study 2, whose parents arrived around 1890, Hungarian refugees in the 1950s and Polish workers from the 1940s to 2016. The company even employed the author’s mother for a short period!


The case study of Ernest Leeming, who was a contributor to the Manchester district planning proposals of 1945, shows the influence this visionary surveyor had on the layout and appearance of the Urmston area in the 1920s and 1930s. He also foresaw the building of motorways and the Channel Tunnel.


There is plenty of detail in this book which should be of interest to anyone who picks it up. I commend it to you.


William Simpson, MD of Simpson Ready Foods, 2018




INTRODUCTION


This is not the first book about the history of the old townships of Urmston, Flixton and Davyhulme. The 1898 books by David Herbert Langton and Richard Lawson, periodically referred to and quoted from in this book, are excellent reads and have been vital source material for the initial research for this book. It would appear that these two gentlemen had originally intended to collaborate on a single book but, after a disagreement, went their own separate ways to write their own individual works. Richard Lawson was living at Rostherne Cottage, Queen’s Road, in Urmston at the time of writing his book and, like this author, he spent many hours researching in Manchester Central Reference Library. Meanwhile David Herbert Langton was living at Morningside in Flixton. Nonetheless, these books are now over a century old and the histories of the three townships are in need of updating.


Alan Crossland’s Looking Back at Urmston and Karen Cliffe and Vicki Masterson’s Urmston, Flixton and Davyhulme, part of the ‘Images of England’ series, are excellent brief histories of the area, sumptuously accompanied by beautiful archival images, as is the more recent Steven Dickens book Flixton, Urmston & Davyhulme Through Time, which juxtaposes photographs of ‘then and now’ views. See the bibliography for a comprehensive list of works I have consulted, which have included some that have been in my own personal collection for forty-five years or more.


However, it is over thirty years since Alan’s book and sixteen since the Cliff/Masterson volume so I thought I would tackle the challenge of an up-to-date history of my birthplace. The book is by no means intended to be an autobiography although, as an Urmstonian, it is inevitable that there have been occasions when my own memories have proved to be useful source material. I ask the reader to indulge me on the few occasions when this happens.


This book traces the history of the two townships up to the town centre redevelopment in 1970. The Urmston Urban District, now as such defunct, was made up of the townships of Urmston, Flixton and Davyhulme that now form part of the Metropolitan Borough of Trafford and, before the boundary changes, was part of the county of Lancashire. The former Urmston Urban District Council was constituted on 1 April 1933 and on 1 April 1974 (coincidentally my 21st birthday) the boroughs of Altrincham, Sale and Stretford and the urban districts of Bowden and Hale together with the rural district of Bucklow were amalgamated to form the Borough of Trafford. From that date the Urban District Council ceased to exist. It is interesting to note in passing that in some records the council is referred to as the Urmston Urban District Council but in others as the Urban Urmston District Council.


Described as a dormitory town after the coming of the railway, Urmston lies around 6 miles south-west of the city of Manchester and covers some 4,800 acres of predominantly residential housing with businesses and open spaces such as fields and parks. Put simply, the three townships are bordered by the Manchester Ship Canal to the west and north, the River Mersey to the south and the borough of Stretford to the east, now mostly demarcated by the M60 motorway. The canal was built into the River Irwell, which divides Manchester from Salford and flows from some 39 miles from the Lancashire moors. None of the three townships was mentioned in the Domesday Book.


Although seen now as a larger and possibly more important township, Urmston was originally part of the parish of Flixton and worshippers would have had to travel to St Michael’s on Sundays.


The coat of arms of Urmston Urban District Council, before its abolition in 1974, is illustrated on the title page. The chevron and martlets are from the heraldry of the local families of Asshawe and Hyde, and the griffin, with a change in colour, is from the arms of the de Traffords. The oak tree alludes to the preservation of the rural aspect of the area, while the anvil and waves refer to industry, the River Mersey, River Irwell and the ship canal. The squirrel is from the heraldry of the de Ormeston family and the balance is an emblem of St Michael, to whom the parish church is dedicated. The motto Salus Populi Suprema Est Lex means ‘the welfare of the people is the highest law’.


The heraldic terminology describes the coat of arms as:




ARMS: Per chevron Azure and barry wavy Argent and of the first on a Chevron Ermine between in chief a Griffin segreant and an Oak Tree eradicated Or and in base a Bezant charged with an Anvil Sable a Rose Gules barbed and seeded proper between two Martlets also Or.


CREST: On a Wreath of the Colours a Squirrel sejant proper holding with the forepaws a Balance Or.





It was in 1942 that the council adopted HMS Express and wanted to present a plaque that, according to custom, would be affixed to the quarterdeck of the adopted vessel. At that time, however, the district had no armorial bearings, and so an application for a grant was made to The College of Arms, and a little over three months later, on 10 June 1942, the grant was obtained.


The new coat of arms, depicted below, actually the arms of Trafford Council, is a compromise of elements representing the various townships in the modern Borough of Trafford. It depicts a griffin on a shield flanked by two unicorns. The line bisecting the shield horizontally symbolises the River Mersey running through Trafford from east to west and the canals in the borough. The white legs of a lion on a red background represent the parts of Trafford previously controlled by the de Massey family, while the red body and head of an eagle on a white background represents the areas of Trafford previously controlled by the de Traffords. Both elements were taken from the coats of arms of the respective families. The fist holding bolts of lightning represents Stretford and the electrical industry; the cog on the arm represents Altrincham’s engineering industry. The unicorns stand for Sale and Altrincham. The oak branches represent Urmston and the rural areas of Trafford.


So, as can be seen, Urmston retains some representation, albeit minimal, in the references to the Mersey and the oak leaves and acorns.
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The Trafford coat of arms. Trafford Council
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The Hyde coat of arms in stone, shown here with John Howe OBE, chair of the Urmston and District Local History Society. (John Howe)





However, a different coat of arms was rescued from Urmston Hall in the 1930s and the stonework seen above is thought to be the arms of the Hyde family. The stone slab, here shown with John Howe OBE, chair of the Urmston and district local history society, can be seen in the church of St Clement, Urmston, at the back of the church near the children’s corner. The watercolour is by Norman Booth and is a speculative depiction of what the full coat of arms may have looked like.


With the dissolution of the Urmston Urban District Council and the naming of Trafford Borough Council to take its place, it is appropriate to give a short history of the Trafford name.


The de Trafford family lived in what is now Trafford Park for ten centuries. The origin of the name may be ‘tree ford’; a wooden ridge through which the road to the ford runs. The River Irwell formed the northern border to the estate, which covered some 1,200 acres with dimensions of 3.5 miles by 1.25 miles. Ralph de Trafford was a contemporary of King Canute (reigned 1016–35) and was one of the king’s military heroes.
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Norman Booth’s watercolour showing what the complete, undamaged arms may have looked like. (Norman Booth)





Although the original family seat was at Old Trafford, a large mansion house was built during the reign of Elizabeth I.


In 1648, during the time of Edmund de Trafford, another mansion house was built and named Urmston Lodge.


It was the construction of the Manchester Ship Canal that led to Trafford Park being developed more as an industrial than a residential area. In 1897 Sir Humphrey de Trafford sold the estate to the Trafford Park Estates Company, a company formed by Ernest Terah Hooley. A large lake in the estate had been used for fishing and boating.


In 1940, during the Second World War, Trafford Hall was badly damaged by a mine and as a result it was demolished around 1946.
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The name Flixton is derived from the old Danish words Flix and tun. One theory is that Flixton was founded by a ninth-century Viking called Flikke. The wall behind the altar at St Michael’s church is the original wall from the first church that was built by Flikke when he found Christianity.


However, in his History of the Parish of Flixton of 1898, David Langton mentions a variety of spellings such as fflixton, Fluxton, Flyxton, Flyxeton, Flixston and Flixtone. Possible explanations, he hypothesises, are Flet meaning flat, Flit being a Saxon term for ‘battle strife’ and Fleot + town, Fleotston or the town up to which the tide comes. Presumably the flowing refers to the nearby river. J. Eglington Bailey, in his Old Stretford, suggests Fleece Town; ‘a derivation that refers to the old staple commodity of England’. Harland, in his Mamecestre, suggests that the origin might be from the Anglo-Saxon Fleax, Flex or Flax.


Another suggested derivation is Felix Town. However, this is generally dismissed as the combination of the Roman Felix with the Saxon ton is not considered viable. Both Lawson and Langton, though, seem to have preferred Flux, meaning ‘a flowing’, and thus Fluxton later corrupted to the present Flixton. Nonetheless, it is a firmly held view by local historians that the name Flixton is definitely of Danish origin with the name of Flikke combined with ton or tun meaning a farmstead.


Urm is an old Danish name and ton is from the old English tun meaning enclosure, yard or homestead; so, the home or settlement of Orm or Urm. The earliest reference to the modern spelling is in the Testa de Nevil, written about 1200, where we find that ‘Albert Gredle, senr. gave to Orme, son of Edward [Aylward] with his daughter Emma, in marriage, one carucate of land in Eston by 10s. yearly: the heirs of Orme hold that land [Orme Eston or Urmston].’ A carucate of land was as much land as a team of oxen could plough in a year. The Testa de Nevil also states that ‘In the time of King John, Adam de Urmeston held one carucate of land, of the heir of Randle, the son of Roger. Richard, the son of Adam, granted lands in Urmston to Richard de Trafford in 1219–20.’ The name was also spelled Urmyston on a 1577 map of Lancashire and Urmstone on a pre-Ordnance Survey map in 1830.


The origin of the name Davyhulme is somewhat uncertain. The old hall was the seat of John de Hulme in the reign of Henry II. This may be the origin of the name with ‘Davy’ being a contraction for David. Old Court Leet records show various spellings; in 1559 it is spelled Deaf Hulme, in 1566 Dewey Holme and in 1735 Davy Hulme. Other spellings show it as Daveyholme, Davey Hulme and, of course, the now accepted spelling of Davyhulme, the first reference of today’s spelling possibly being 18 March 1792 as referred to by Dr Adam Clarke in his Journal. As if to add further confusion, the word Hulme is also an old Saxon word meaning a flat island in a river or the low meadow land by the banks of a curving river.


Other local place name derivations include Crofts Bank as a correction of Cross Bank. The old way of writing the letter ‘s’ as ‘f’ is thought to have contributed to this. Cross Bank was considered to be the junction of four important roads.


As far as other nearby towns are concerned, Stretford derives from the Anglo-Saxon meaning the paved ford; Irlam from the Anglo-Saxon Irwel Ham or the Irwel House; Carrington from Celtic and Anglo-Saxon Cathair, a fortress. Bent Lanes means the place where the rushes grow. The River Irwell derives from the Celtic meaning Ir (fresh) and Gwili (river). The Mersey is thought to derive from the fact that the river anciently divided the Saxon kingdom of Mercia from Northumbria. However, Lawson tells us that the current spelling comes from Meres ea or ‘the river fed by meres’, which he dates to 1662.
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Flixton was part of the lands between the River Mersey and the River Ribble that William the Conqueror gave to Roger de Poitou shortly after the 1066 Norman Conquest. In turn, Roger bestowed part of these lands upon Albert de Grelly, a follower of the Norman duke.


As has been mentioned, Albert de Grelly gave one carucate of land to Orme Fitz-Siward, son of Edward Aylward, on his marriage to his daughter Emma, for 10s, and the land was known as Orme’s Tun, later Orme Eston in the reign of King John (1199–1216). In turn, Richard, son of Adam of Ormeston, gave lands in these parts to Richard de Trafford in 1219 and later, in 1305, it is recorded that lands passed to Gilbert of Ashton, who was killed in a duel with John de Trafford.


The lands reverted to the Ormestons with the exception of the Newcroft estates, which remained with the de Traffords. During the reign of Henry IV (1399–1413) lands in Urmston passed to the Hyde family on the occasion of marriage between the daughter and heir of Adam de Urmston to Sir John Hyde of Norbury.
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Carr’s Ditch, Moorside Road. (David Smith)





William Hyde’s great-granddaughter, Susan, married Richard Hulme of Davyhulme in 1642, after which the lands passed into the Hulme family.


In 1735, Ann Hulme of Davyhulme married Thomas Willis of Bleckly in Buckinghamshire, who later sold his Urmston estates by a decree of chancery to a banker, William Allen, in 1765. Allen was declared bankrupt in 1789 and his estates were purchased by a Mr Marsden, who sold them in turn to John Miller and thence to the Ridehalgh family. It was Colonel Ridehalgh who in 1868 gave an acre of land as a gift for the building of Urmston parish church.


One feature of the area was known as Carr’s Ditch, once thought to be a defensive structure of Roman origin but now established to be a medieval boundary between the townships of Urmston and Davyhulme. It served as a drainage ditch for surrounding fields. The construction of Moorside Road from Crofts Bank Road through to Bowfell Circle has now hidden the ditch from view. Nico’s Ditch ran the length of Winchester Road to where Crofts Bank Road crosses and Carr’s Ditch continued on the other side. Nico’s Ditch is thought to run from Denton through Levenshulme and through to Stretford. It was possibly constructed in Saxon/Viking times and might have formed the border between the kingdoms of Northumbria and Mercia. It is now accepted to be the border between Urmston and Davyhulme.


Flixton


The first mention of Flixton is in the Testa de Nevil (‘Head of Nevill’) a book written about 1200. Originally in two volumes of parchment, the Testa, also known as the Liber Feodorum, is a collection of about 500 written brief notes made and added to throughout the thirteenth century, concerning fiefs held in capite or in-chief, that is to say directly from the Crown. The reference to Flixton reads ‘Albert Gredle, sen; gave to Henry, son of Siward, one carucate of land in Flixton by 10s yearly. The heirs hold that land.’


Due to its geographical position, the parish of Flixton has had a quiet and uneventful history overall. It lies out of touch with the old main roads from Manchester to Warrington and to Chester, and the rivers on two sides, being unbridged, coupled with the fact that roads leading to Flixton led to nowhere else, contributed to some degree of insularity of the township. Thus changes in the ownership of land were, comparatively speaking, infrequent. Only one of its local gentry has taken any prominent part in the movements of the day, namely Peter Egerton of Shaw, an active partisan of Parliament during the Civil War.


Volume 5 of The History of The County of Lancaster (1911; part of The Victoria History of the Counties of England) describes Flixton thus:




The Parish of Flixton is a compact area of three plough-lands ancient assessment lying in the tongue between the Irwell and Mersey, appears to have been cut off from Barton; the boundary between them is a straight line running east and west, while the eastern boundary is merely part of that between Barton and Stretford, also a straight line running south from the boundary of Whittleswick to the Mersey. Similarly the division between the component townships of Flixton is a straight line running southwards. The area is 2,581 acres. The geological formation consists of Upper Mottled Sandstone (Bunter series) of the New Red Sandstone.





This volume also describes the township of Flixton as measuring about 2.25 miles from east to west, with an average breadth of nearly 1.5 miles. The general slope is from from the north and east towards the opposite boundaries, the Mersey and Irwell. The population in 1901 was stated to be 3,656. It should also be borne in mind that the Mersey’s course has varied from time to time and so its present course is not everywhere the exact boundary of the township as in past times.


Baines, in his 1868 The History of Lancashire, describes Flixton as not more than 7 miles from the town of Manchester and as ‘a small part of the hundred of Salford [which is] of necessity partly manufacturing, but is principally agricultural’. Baines also tells us that the township had an area of 1,575 statute acres ‘delightfully situated upon a verdant eminence’, with a population of 1,302 in 1861. He also notes that the population of Flixton decreased from 2,064 in 1851 to 2,050 in 1861, which he attributes to ‘the absence of manufacturing establishments in the township and the strong attraction presented by the abundant supply of labour and liberal wages of Manchester’. In his book Labour Migration in England 1800–1850 (1926), Arthur Redford comments on the distress caused to the handloom weavers and says that they were willing to starve rather than submit to factory discipline. Nonetheless, a considerable number of handloom weavers flocked to the growing factory towns after the mid 1830s to seek employment for themselves and their children, and this exodus gave rise to the growth of such new towns as Stalybridge and Ashtonunder-Lyne. Redford goes on to mention Flixton, which he refers to as a small village 7 miles from Manchester in which the population actually decreased due to the migration of handloom weavers.


Urmston


The area now known as Urmston formed part of the land between the Mersey and Ribble rivers, which were given to Roger de Poitou just after the Norman conquest of 1066. Roger de Poitou later bestowed these lands around the River Mersey to Albert de Grelly.


The land then became known as Orme’s Tun, or ‘the settlement or dwelling of Orme’, later to be known as Orme Eston, then Ormeston and finally as its current name of Urmston. Other spellings have included Wermeston (1194), Urmeston (1212) and Ormestone (1302) as mentioned in The History of The County of Lancaster (1911).


In Volume 5 of The History of The County of Lancaster Urmston is described as a township measuring about 1 mile from north to south and 1.5 miles across with an area of 993 acres, the land sloping gently from north to south where the Mersey forms the boundary. The field names include Hillam, Barrowfield, Bakewell Meadow, Twines, Treeley, Rant and Woefield.
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An 1830 map showing the hamlets south of the River Irwell. These hamlets were to be amalgamated into the townships of Urmston, Flixton and Davyhulme. (Manchester Central Reference Library)
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The 1846 Ordnance Survey map of Urmston, Flixton and Davyhulme. (From Langton’s A History of Flixton, Urmston and Davyhulme, 1898)





The manor of Urmston was originally part of the Marsey fee, and held of the lord as one plough-land by a family using the local surname. The earliest known holder is Richard de Urmston who, in 1193–4 gave 40s for having the king’s good will after the rebellion of John, Count of Mortain (later King John). Adam de Urmston held it in 1212 but after this there is a period of uncertainty. The superior lordship was acquired by the Trafford family, who held it until the sixteenth century. In 1305 Adam de Urmston conferred all his lands in Urmston upon Gilbert de Ashton. Gilbert had several daughters and Urmston became the portion of Hawise, wife of Henry son of John de Trafford. Her heir, a daughter, married Ralph son of John de Hyde of Hyde in Cheshire. The manor continued with the Trafford family until the eighteenth century. Baines tells us in his The History of Lancashire that Urmston had an area of 974 acres with a population of 748 in 1861.


Maps can tell us a great deal about the growth of an area. The 1830 pre-OS map shows the area still very sparsely populated and that the spellings of Urmston and Davyhulme are spelled Urmstone and Davy Hulme respectively, although Flixton has acquired its modern form.


The 1846 map of Urmston, Flixton and Davyhulme shows how rural the three townships were and also that they had now become known by their current spellings. The railway was still some twenty-seven years away and Park Hospital was, as yet, unbuilt. The grey areas depicting houses and other buildings show the distinct nature of Flixton and Urmston, with the latter catching up the former in size but Flixton’s population at the time was still some 600 greater than that of Urmston.


Stretford Road, which runs from St Clement’s church towards Stretford, was called Gammershaw Lane until 1850, and then Front Urmston. Higher Road was called Back Urmston and this is shown on the 1830 map as ‘Back Urmstone’. Moss Vale Road was originally known as Brook Lane and then Moss Road.


Davyhulme


The Manchester Ship Canal passes along the northern boundary of Davyhulme which, along with the four other hamlets of Crofts Bank, Bent Lanes, Dumplington and Bromyhurst, was constituted as a separate township under the provisions of the Local Government Act of 1894.


The three maps of Davyhulme above date from 1898, 1908 and 1936 and show a great deal of change within that brief thirty-eight-year period. The church of St Mary’s, a mere eight years old, in the top right-hand corner of the 1898 map can be seen with Hey Head Farm just to the south. Careful scrutiny of the 1898 and 1908 maps shows very little change at all apart from the brickworks that has appeared on the 1908 map just to the north of the church on the other side of Davyhulme Road. But what a major development can be seen taking place just thirty years later with the construction of Park Hospital and a large housing estate to the south of St Mary’s, which has swallowed up Hey Head Farm and Davyhulme Hall Farm. The railways had made Urmston, Flixton and Davyhulme dormitory towns and suburban sprawl was taking effect in a big way.
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The 1898 Ordnance Survey map of Davyhulme.





The parish of Davyhulme was not established until 1890 with the completion of St Mary’s church. Although it was three times the size of of Flixton and Urmston in area, the population only stood at 1,326 when the church of St Mary’s was built.


Unfortunately Davyhulme is probably best known for the sewerage works constructed by Manchester Corporation in the late nineteenth century to reduce the amount of sewage deposited in the rivers around Manchester and to provide the town with an efficient disposal system. There had previously been no modern sewage system in Manchester and toilets were mostly ash pits needing emptying by hand. The construction of the sewage works enabled the introduction of flushing toilets. The location was due to Davyhulme being near to the canal and some distance from major residential areas. The works were opened in 1894 and the treatment was chemical precipitation and land filtration. Additional sedimentation tanks and contact filter beds were installed in 1904. This enabled biological treatment of the settled sewage.
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The 1908 Ordnance Survey map of Davyhulme.
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The 1936 Ordnance Survey map of Davyhulme.





Urmston Hall


Urmston Old Hall was the home of the manorial lord and a centre of power in the area during the Middle Ages. The old hall was rebuilt in brick and timber in 1580 and inhabited by Adam de Ormeston, then by Richard, his son. In Volume 5 of The History of The County of Lancaster the hall is described as being ‘a two-story timber and plaster building on a stone base. The principal front, which faces north, is entirely of wood and plaster under a single gable about 21ft. wide and on the east side are two timber gables with a good brick chimney between’. The description goes on to describe ‘windows, each of seven lights’ that had ‘lost their original glazing’. Mention is also made of the quatrefoils (see photograph) being only painted on the plaster.
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Urmston Old Hall. (Author)





During the reign of Henry IV (1399–1413), Adam had no male heir and so the lands passed into the Hyde family on his daughter’s marriage to Ralph Hyde. Subsequently the lands passed to the Hulme family through marriage in 1642 and stayed in the family until 1765. Subsequent owners included Thomas Willis, a banker Mr Allen, Mr Marsden, and Mr Miller.


The hall was used as a farm from the mid nineteenth century, owned by the Ridehalgh family and tenanted and farmed by Jonathan Stott, then passing to the Bancroft family, who were farming the land at the turn of the century. The hall, a gabled timber and plaster Tudor building, decorated with lozenges and trefoils, was renovated in 1731. In 1790, the hall and lands were purchased by Samuel Taylor, who built Newcroft House in 1850. Newcroft House is still occupied and stands on Stretford Road not far from where the motorway crosses. The hall stood on what is now Manor Avenue between St Clement’s church and Queen’s Road and was demolished in 1937. Bricks and beams from the demolished hall were used in the building of a house at No.1 Carlton Crescent.


Newcroft Hall


Backtracking to 1219, Adam de Ormeston gave lands to Richard de Trafford of Trafford Hall who, it is thought, built Newcroft Hall.


Lawson tells us that one Richard Warburton lived here in 1397 before the hall was inhabited by Henry de Trafford and later by Sir John de Radcliffe of Ordsall. Sir John’s descendants occupied the hall, including Richard, third son of Sir William Radcliffe, and it is this Richard, who died in 1602, who is celebrated on the brass plaque in Flixton parish church.


In August 1879, the estate, consisting of 79 acres, 1 rood and 35 perches, plus a church pew in Flixton church, was advertised for sale; it passed into the ownership of Samuel Taylor, who built Newcroft House in 1850.


In August 1888 Newcroft Hall was sold at auction for £4,000 subject to a yearly rent charge of 25s to be used for the education of children attending schools in Shawtown and a yearly rent of 2s 6d to be paid to the parson of Flixton church for a sermon. The provision for a pew at Flixton church was included in the price. There was also provision made for a 9d duchy rent and 2s 6d for the bellringers of Flixton church.


Newcroft Hall was situated where Newcroft Road lies, just opposite the Urmston public house. Dating from the thirteenth century, the original hall was surrounded by a moat, so Lawson tells us. The first recorded occupant of the hall was John de Trafford. He killed Gilbert of Ashton in a duel in a field called Barrowfield Bank behind Urmston Hall and buried his victim there and took the deeds of the manor.


Henry de Trafford was resident in 1334 and later his daughter Alice married William de Warburton and the estate passed into the Warburton family. Geoffrey de Warburton is recorded as living in the hall in 1389–90 and Richard de Warburton in 1397, after which came William de Warburton, who made a grant of some land in 1429–30 to his son on his marriage.


The Warburtons eventually moved to Arley Hall in Cheshire, after which Newcroft Hall came into the ownership of Sir John Radcliffe of Ordsal Hall in what is now Salford. Then came John’s son Richard, who married Margaret, daughter of Sir Edmund Trafford of Trafford Park. Richard distinguished himself as a soldier. In 1579 his wife died and he married Margaret, daughter of John Radcliffe of Foxdenton Hall in Manchester. One of his daughters, Mary, was one of Queen Elizabeth’s ladies of the bedchamber. It is this Richard, who died in 1602 aged 67, who is commemorated on the brass in Flixton church. His successor at the hall was Alexander Radcliffe. Alexander sold the hall to his half-brother William of Foxdenton Hall.


In 1662 the hall passed into the Rogers family; the Hume family acquired it next, but leased it to the Gregory family. William Allen then purchased the hall on 7 March 1765 but he later became bankrupt.


The Newcroft estate, together with a pew at Flixton church, 74 acres of land and subject to a payment of 20s for the education of poor children at Shaw Town School, 2s 6d yearly to the minister of Flixton church and 2s 6d yearly to the ringers of Flixton were put up for sale in 1789. Thus, on 23 June 1790, the hall and estate were purchased by the Taylor family from Hulme Hall, Reddish. It was about this time that the hall was rebuilt of plain brick of Georgian design and was said to have no architectural beauty whatsoever.


In 1888 the hall and estate passed into the hands of Herbert Bannister for £4,081. The Bannister family never occupied it and there then followed a series of tenants. The hall eventually fell into the hands of John, Edmund and James Chadwick, but on the death of James in 1871 and Edmund in 1877 the estate passed to John Taylor of Newcroft House.


The occupant at the 1891 census is shown as Edwin Bradshaw, a 43-year-old auctioneer from Hereford, and his wife of the same age, Elizabeth, originally from Manchester. They are shown as having three children: Daniel, aged 20, also an auctioneer; John, 18, a butcher; and Francis, 16, a clerk. Three servants are shown also: Thomas Alfred Lee, a 16-year-old farm servant from Nantwich; 16-year-old Mary Jane Frost, also from Nantwich and employed as a domestic servant; and 14-year-old Florence Gibson from Salford.
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Shaw Hall. (From Langton’s A History of Flixton, Urmston and Davyhulme, 1898)





The hall was sold by Clifford George Bannister to the builders Longworth & Taylor on 3 January 1935 and later that year it was demolished to make way for a new housing estate. The name is memorialised in the estate containing Newcroft Road, Newcroft Crescent, Newcroft Drive and Acrefield Avenue. An interesting discovery was made when foundations for a garage were being built at No. 8 Newcroft Road in 1981; an old 20ft well.


Shaw Hall


According to Dr Leech in his article Flixton and its Church, Shaw Hall was built by Leonard Asshawe in the reign of James I. Other evidence supports 1603 as the date of the hall’s construction. The Asshawe coat of arms, reflected in the 1942 arms, is ‘argent on a chevron between three martlets vert as many crosses form fitchy of the field’.


The earliest known family resident at Shaw Town was the Valentines. Sir Ralph Valentine fought and was killed at the Battle of Bosworth Field on 22 August 1485 and, on setting out from home, is said to have remarked to his wife that he would return dead or alive. Langton makes the mistake of stating that Sir Ralph was on the side of Henry Tudor, whereas the official roll call of the battle published by the Richard III Foundation shows clearly that he fought on the Yorkist side and therefore on the side of Richard III.


Sir Ralph was slain in battle and his wish was for his body to be returned home; Lady Alice went out to meet the returning soldiers with her husband’s remains. The legend runs as follows:




But o’er her form there ran


The tremor and chill of death


His face was all she saw


And sinking at his charger’s feet


Died Alice of Asshawe!





Shaw Hall passed to the Asshawe family, who were related to the Valentines. On the death of the second Leonard Asshawe without male heirs, the estate passed to his daughter Elizabeth, who married Peter Egerton in 1611. Peter became High Sheriff of Lancashire in 1641 and he was on the Parliamentary side during the Civil War and played a part in the defence of Manchester when the Royalist forces marched on the city in 1642. He held many official positions locally and died on 22 May 1656. His death was recorded as a case of misadventure in that he suffered from distemper and took flour and brimstone as a medicine. His maid erroneously prepared a draught that included mercury. He was poisoned and died within hours.


The Egertons were resident at the hall until 1757. Leech comments on some of the fine aspects of the interior such as the windows, tapestries and painted ceilings; although evidence was never found, he also talks of the legend of an underground passage leading from the hall to the church, although parts of a causeway were discovered. This causeway was, in all probability, the remnants of a drain as the land was on a flood plain.


Leech also comments, with some humour, that the hall has ‘more gables than an idle man would care to count on a sunny day’. Baines adds that the roof has a profusion of chimneys with a cupola removed in 1863. There were also gables and wooden parapets on the south-west and north sides.


In the early part of the nineteenth century the building was used as a school, first by Mrs Knubley, who ran a ladies’ school, and then by Mr J. McDougall. Later, it was divided into two houses, one of which was occupied by Mr James Ridehalgh.


In Volume 5 of The History of The County of Lancaster mention is made of two pieces of tapestry in the upper rooms representing scenes from the life of Alexander and a painting on the cove of the hall ceiling representing the wife of Darius kneeling before Alexander, together with a smaller allegorical circular painting on the ceiling of the entrance porch to the north house. In his 1898 book, Richard Lawson tell us that the painting was 200 years old. Mention is also made of a good deal of seventeenth-century heraldic glass which had been removed. It depicted the coats of arms of the Asshawe and Egerton families. There was also once a moat adjoining the gardens.


The hall was demolished for an extended Shaw Hall housing estate in 1956 even after public opposition to the scheme. This was carried out by Maunders Construction.


Davyhulme Hall


Davyhulme Hall was originally built in 1154 and demolished in 1888. The image below is from 1850 and the grounds form part of what is now Davyhulme Golf Club.


The hall was the seat of the Hulme family, with John de Hulme resident during the reign of Henry II (1154–89).


The hall passed out of the Hulme family when the heiress Ann Hulme married Thomas Willis of Bleckley in 1735. The next owner was William Allen, a banker, who bought the estate in 1765. However, on Allen being declared bankrupt in 1789, the estate passed into the possession of Henry Norreys. On his death his estate was left to his daughter Mary and son-in-law Robert, who adopted the family arms and surname. Their son, Robert Henry Norreys, inherited the estate in 1844.


In 1887 Norreys died childless and his nephew, J.B. Norreys-Entwistle, inherited the estate. It was Mr Entwistle who donated land on which was built St Mary’s church. In 1887 he appointed the Royal Institute of British Architects to organise a competition for the new church; eight architects competed for the commission, which was won by George Truefitt.
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Davyhulme Hall.
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Norreys’ urn in the grounds of Davyhulme Hall, now Davyhulme golf course. (Author)





Davyhulme Hall was demolished in 1888 and the golf course now occupies the land. The large stone slab that served as the entrance to the hall can now be seen in the grounds of the church of St Mary The Virgin in Davyhulme.


There is still a huge ornamental stone urn, listed Grade II, visible from Moorside Road in the grounds of the golf course. The urn was erected as a memorial to one of the Norreys family’s favourite racehorses, which is said to be buried beneath the urn. However, as it has been moved several times it cannot be said with certainty whether the horse is beneath its current location.


Very few ancient artefacts have been unearthed by archaeologists. One that deserves mention was uncovered by the South Trafford Archaeological Group in 1983; fragments of Roman pottery were found in what was Urmston Old Hall, now the site of Urmston cemetery. During construction of the Manchester Ship Canal in 1890, what were thought to be two prehistoric canoes were discovered in the bed of the River Mersey between Irlam and Barton. Also, a spearhead was found in the workings of the Irlam section of the Manchester Ship Canal, as mentioned in the Transactions of the Lancashire and Cheshire Antiquarian Society in 1895.


Langton mentions that a large stone celt – a type of early axe, 13in by 3.25in – was unearthed in Flixton, in an ancient bank of the Mersey, in 1846. It weighed 3lb 13.5oz. The celt had been discovered by workmen who sold it to Mr Charles Royle while he was taking gravel near Shaw Hall – presumably under the right of common of marl which; like rights of pasture, piscary, pannage; estovers and turbery as defined by the manorial courts, was a right of common enjoyed by the people.
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